Filed 12-05-2022 Page 1 of 36

> **RECEIVED** 12-05-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP275

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONALD L. WHITE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER A. LOHR State Bar No. 1085725

LOHR LAW OFFICE, LLC 583 D'Onofrio Dr., Suite 1011 Madison, WI 53719 (608) 515-8106 jlohr@lohrlawoffice.com

Attorney for Donald L. White

INTRODUCTION

Donald L. White petitions this Court to review the court of appeals' decision in *State v. White*, No. 2020AP00275-CR (Wis. Ct. App. November 3, 2022) (unpublished). (App. 3-28.) In that decision, the court of appeals affirmed Mr. White's criminal conviction and the circuit court's determination that Mr. White was competent to stand trial, a decision made without an admissible expert opinion on Mr. White's competency.

When a criminal defendant's competency to stand trial is in question, the circuit court must appoint an expert examiner to evaluate the defendant and provide a report opining whether the defendant is competent to proceed. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2), (3). If the defendant maintains he is incompetent, it is the State's burden to prove competence by the greater weight of the credible evidence at a competency hearing. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). Here, the circuit court had reason to doubt that Mr. White, a pro se defendant, was competent to stand trial and initiated competency proceedings. The appointed expert was unable to offer an opinion to a reasonable degree of professional certainty as to Mr. White's competence and recommended that inpatient examination was necessary to come to an opinion with the required certainty. Instead, the court proceeded to the competency hearing, ruled the examiner's opinion on competency inadmissible, but allowed testimony regarding the examiner's interactions with Mr. White and review of collateral records. The court then found Mr. White competent.

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 7 of 36

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Is Wisconsin's statutory scheme for preventing an incompetent defendant from standing trial violated when a circuit court finds a defendant competent with no admissible expert on opinion on competency?

The circuit court denied Mr. White's request for the recommended inpatient competency evaluation. The court did not admit the expert's ultimate opinion on competency because it was not made to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. The circuit court found Mr. White competent to stand trial.

The court of appeals affirmed, concluding that Wis. Stat. § 971.14 does not preclude a circuit court from ruling on a defendant's competency in the absence of an expert's ultimate conclusion, offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty, that the subject is competent.

This Court should grant review and hold that Wis. Stat. § 971.14 requires not just an expert evaluation and report when competency is questioned, but that a defendant must be afforded an expert's ultimate conclusion as to competency that satisfies the reasonable degree of professional certainty standard, because to require less would render meaningless the statutory protection of an expert evaluation to potentially incompetent individuals.

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 8 of 36

II. Is a state procedure that does not afford a potentially incompetent defendant an admissible expert opinion on competency adequate under the Due Process Clause?

The circuit court did not address the due process implications of its decision to proceed with the competency determination without affording Mr. White an admissible expert opinion. In his appeal of the circuit court's ruling, Mr. White argued that an interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 971.14 that allowed the court to determine competency without such an opinion violated his due process right to not be criminally tried while incompetent.

The court of appeals concluded that the issue was primarily one of statutory interpretation rather than a constitutional question. The court opined that a requirement for an admissible expert opinion is not sufficiently rooted in the nations traditions so as to render the statute unconstitutional for failing to make that requirement, but did not address whether fundamental fairness requires it.

This Court should grant review and hold that, in order for Wisconsin's competency proceedings to be sufficiently protective of the due process right not to be criminally tried while incompetent, a potentially incompetent defendant must be afforded an admissible expert opinion on competency.

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 9 of 36

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This case raises a novel and important questions of statutory interpretation and constitutional law regarding what a circuit court should do when it receives a competency examiner report that does not contain an admissible opinion on a defendant's competency. This issue implicates questions about the levels of protection that Wisconsin's statutory scheme affords to a criminal defendant whose competency to stand trial is in question, and whether those procedures are adequate to satisfy the Due Process Clause. This petition asks the courts the court to interpret the statute's requirement that a defendant whose competency is in question be afforded expert opinion on the issue, and to clarify both the statutory and constitutional protections that must be afforded to such an individual.

The trial of an incompetent defendant violates not just the United States and Wisconsin constitutions, but also Wisconsin state law. Wis. Stat. § 971.13(1) (codifying the constitutional standard). The statutory competency procedures are "a critically important failsafe device for the benefit of accused persons who may not be able to fully cooperate and assist in their defense." *State ex rel. Matalik v. Schubert*, 57 Wis. 2d 315, 322, 204 N.W.2d 13 (1973). Thus, while it is within the purview of the state to establish specific competency procedures, those procedures must be sufficiently protective of the right not to be criminally tried while incompetent. *Cooper v. Oklahoma*, 517 U.S. 348, 367-68, 116 S.Ct. 1372 (1996).

During the pendency of Mr. White's criminal case, the circuit court had reason to doubt his competency to Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 10 of 36

stand trial and appropriately began competency proceedings under Section 971.14. But when the appointed examiner reported an inability to opine on Mr. White's competence to a reasonable degree of professional certainty after her initial meeting with Mr. White, the court disregarded the competency examiner's recommendation for further evaluation and proceeded with a competency hearing without an admissible expert opinion on competency, ultimately finding him competent to stand trial.

Mr. White appealed his conviction arguing that by finding Mr. White competent to stand trial despite there being no admissible expert opinion as to his competency as required by Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3), the circuit court deprived Mr. White of both statutory and constitutional due process protections. The court of appeals concluded that the requirement for an expert opinion on competency in Section 971.14 does not preclude a circuit court from ruling on a defendant's competency in the absence of an expert's opinion, offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty, that the individual is competent. Further, the court concluded that Mr. White had no right to receive additional competency examination in order to obtain an admissible expert opinion and the court did not err in not ordering further examination.

The court of appeals based its decision on the principle that a court is not bound by an expert's opinion, but simply weighs it along with other evidence. Therefore, the court found that an expert report containing "information," "findings," and "professionally informed data" would satisfy the statutory requirement for an expert

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 11 of 36

opinion. The decision below is the first interpretation of the statutory requirement for an examiner's opinion, and though unpublished, as an authored decision it can be used persuasively to impact the way future courts handle situations in which an examiner cannot determine an individual's competency after an initial meeting. The resolution of this novel legal question will have statewide impact given the potential for the facts of this case to be repeated in other cases involving questions of competency. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2, 3.

Additionally, while the court of appeals focused on the issue as one of statutory interpretation, Mr. White maintained on appeal that the circuit court's actions were a violation of his constitutional due process right to not be tried while incompetent. Thus, a real and significant question of federal and state constitutional law is presented – whether Section § 971.14 is adequate under the Due Process Clause to protect defendants whose competency is in question. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a).

For these reasons, this Court should grant review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In January 2018, Mr. White, an inmate at the Wisconsin Secure Program Facility (WSPF), was charged with one count of assault by prisoner for allegedly spitting at a correctional officer. (1:1-2.) (*Id.*)

Mr. White made several initial appearances in the case by videoconference from WSPF without counsel, during which he made comments referencing Abraham

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 12 of 36

Lincoln and requested First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt be appointed as his attorney. (36:2-3.) The court in a later hearing stated these statements "made me wonder whether you were oriented to time and place." (37:3.)

Mr. White appeared in person, without counsel, for the preliminary hearing on May 3, 2018. (37:2.) Mr. White told the court that Eleanor Roosevelt was his payee and that the court should speak to him through her; Mr. White did not otherwise respond to the court during this hearing. (37:2-7.) The court proceeded with the preliminary hearing, found probable cause, and bound the case over for trial. (37:12.)

Because of questions about Mr. White's "orientation to the world" due to his behavior at the hearing, the court ordered a competency examination. (37:13.)

Competency Evaluation and Report

Dr. Christina Engen, a psychologist with the Wisconsin Forensics Unit, was appointed to examine Mr. White. (11; App.36-37.) On June 5, 2018, Dr. Engen submitted her report concluding that, because Mr. White did not cooperate with her attempt to examine him, an opinion on competency could not be offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. (12:4.)

The report stated that examination of Mr. White was "unproductive" because he provided "outlandish" answers to questions and "behaved in a manner that appeared to me theatrical." (12:2.) Dr. Engen's informally opined that Mr. White was competent, based on collateral information, including prior determinations that Mr. White was

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 13 of 36

competent a decade earlier, a lack of documentation of any mental health diagnosis in Department of Corrections records, records Dr. Engen believed demonstrated Mr. White's ability to advocate for himself in communications with DOC staff, and Mr. White's presumed knowledge gained from his prior experience as a defendant. (12:5.) However, Dr. Engen concluded:

I am unable to offer this opinion to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. This is based on the fact that (1) he did not cooperate with my examination, (2) I am aware of the possibility that malingering can co-exist with incompetency, and (3) ten years have passed since he was last evaluated and adjudicated competent. As such, this is a situation in which it might be prudent to continue examination on an inpatient basis.

(12:5.)

At a hearing on August 2, 2018, Mr. White contended that he was not competent. (38:3; App.39.) The court acknowledged it was required to hold an evidentiary hearing and that the State had the burden of proving by Mr. White competent. (*Id.*) The State considered the lack of an opinion on competency to a reasonable degree of professional certainty to be "a problem" and argued that Mr. White should be further evaluated. (37:4; App. 40.) Regarding the examiner's opinion, the court held, "If she can't offer an opinion to a reasonable degree of certainty it's

¹ However, the State did not believe further evaluation should be on an inpatient basis, so that Mr. White "should not be getting sort of a benefit by being uncooperative." (37:4; App.40.)

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 14 of 36

not an admissible opinion. And so her opinion doesn't get in." (*Id.*) However, the court held that details of the examiner's observations and conversations, and information about previous evaluations would be admissible. (37:4-5; App.40-41.)

The Competency Hearing

A competency hearing was held on August 28, 2018. Dr. Engen testified regarding her examination of Mr. White at WSPF. (39:4-6; App.43-45.) She testified that Mr. White expressed confusion about why she was there and indicated he believed Eleanor Roosevelt would be the recipient of the doctor's report. (39:6; App.45.) In response to questions about Mr. White's personal history, current mental status, and his understanding of his current legal situation, Dr. Engen testified that Mr. White provided limited information of questionable reliability. (39:6-7; App.45-46.) Dr. Engen opined that Mr. White understood her questions but was "choosing to respond to them in a way that I characterize as theatrical or outlandish," and that his "were not appropriate and it was my impression...that that was volitional. So he answered them incorrectly based on an effort to manipulate the situation or perhaps for diversion, for some sort of fun for him." (39:7, 11; App.46, 50.)

Dr. Engen also reviewed collateral sources including older evaluations of Mr. White's competency to stand trial by the Wisconsin Forensics Unit and his Department of Corrections psychological services unit file. (39:5; App.44.) Dr. Engen testified that the prior competency evaluations from the decade prior did not indicate any diagnosis of a

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 15 of 36

major mental illness. (39:7-8; App.46-47.) On three prior occasions, in 1992, 2006, and 2007, doctors conducting competency evaluations were unable to form an opinion and recommended inpatient evaluation. (39:8-9; App.47-48.) In each of those cases, Mr. White was ultimately deemed competent to proceed. (39:9; App.48.) Dr. Engen did not review records from Mr. White's inpatient evaluations and was unaware of how he responded to inpatient evaluations. (39:11; App.50.)

Dr. Engen testified that information from WSPF psychological services was consistent with Mr. White being "generally uncooperative." (39:9; App.48.) The prison records indicated that Mr. White was diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder, and that while there had been instances where Mr. White had reported self-harm behavior or suicidal ideation, the self-harm was determined to be unfounded. (39:9-10; App.48-49.)

Dr. Engen believed that Mr. White was competent to proceed, however her opinion was not offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. (39:11-12; App.50-51.) She believed Mr. White competent because he had previously been found competent to proceed following inpatient evaluation on more than one occasion and because Mr. White's records did not indicate he suffered from a major mental illness that would interfere with competency. (39:12; App.51.) Dr. Engen inferred from Mr. White's request to transfer from WSPF to the Wisconsin Resource Center, as documented in his prison file, that he was able to self-advocate and therefore likely competent to assist in his defense. (*Id.*) She noted that Mr. White had prior experience as a defendant in the criminal justice

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 16 of 36

system from which he could draw to inform his current understanding. (*Id.*)

The State did not present any other evidence. (39-13; App.52.)

Mr. White declined to question Dr. Engen, though he did ask the court when he was last determined competent in a previous case. (Id.) The court informed him that Dr. stated the Engen's report that last competency determination was ten years prior, in 2008. (39:14.) Mr. White told the court that since then, he had been approved for Supplemental Security Income (SSI) due to suffering from a mental illness. (Id.) Mr. White argued that Dr. Engen was lying when she reported that he had never been diagnosed with a mental illness. (39:13, 16.) Mr. White was unable to tell the court what he had been diagnosed with but, because he had received SSI, knew he had received a mental health diagnosis. (39:16-17.) Ultimately, the court accepted the proposition that Mr. White had a mental illness and assumed it to be the case. (39:18; App.53.)

The court questioned Mr. White regarding his understanding of the criminal justice system, and Mr. White denied having knowledge, experience, or understanding. (39:14-16.) Mr. White stated his understanding of the roles of the prosecutor and judge were that they are "murderers." (*Id.*)

When the court asked if Mr. White wanted an attorney, Mr. White asked, "What good would a lawyer do me if I don't understand what's going on? You keep asking me if I want a lawyer; what good would a lawyer do me if I don't understand nothing that's going on now?" (39:18.)

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 17 of 36

The court opined that Mr. White understood what was going on, and that "people seem to think that you're faking it." (39:18-19.) Mr. White responded that he does "unnormal things. It's not the mind of a mind of a normal person." (39:19.) Mr. White went on to draw analogies between Charles Manson, Saddam Hussein, Hitler, and John Wayne Gacy and his own abnormal thinking. (39:19-20.) The court responded, "I can tell from the storehouse of knowledge that you keep in your head that you are not an un-bright fellow. I can tell by the way that you think about appropriate examples of how to quiz me that you are a bright man." (39:21.) The court asked Mr. White additional questions regarding his knowledge of the legal process, to which Mr. White answered that he did not know or care. (39:22-23.)

In support of his contention that he was not competent, Mr. White argued that he needed psychological treatment, had needed it for years, and had not received it in prison. (39:24-25.) He acknowledged that the prison denied that he had a mental health diagnosis but argued that was because the prison did not wish to provide him treatment. (*Id.*) He further argued that the impact of his incarceration was making his mental condition worse. (*Id.*)

Regarding the expert testimony, the court informed Mr. White, "I cannot accept her opinion." (39:18; App.53.) The court found Mr. White competent to stand trial:

I believe that you are competent to stand trial. You are clearly oriented to time and place and person. You are clearly intelligent. You are clearly articulate. You clearly have a grasp of history and culture and

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 18 of 36

sociology and a grasp of a lot of things you need to know. That's what I need to decide today.

You may well have a mental illness, but it's not such as prevents you from standing trial in this case. I find that you know that [the prosecutor] is not a murderer. You use that, perhaps, in a colorful sense. But you understand the criminal justice system and who does what and you understand, based upon your comments to me, my role to make decisions for better or for worse.

(39:28-29; App.55-56.)

After finding Mr. White competent to proceed to trial, the court found that Mr. White had "not so much...waived his right to a lawyer as he has forfeited by refusing to accept indigent public defender counsel when he is aware of that possibility and that it could help." (39:30.) The court found Mr. White competent to represent himself. (*Id.*)

Jury Trial

On the day of trial, Mr. White appeared in person for the sole purpose of delivering a document to the court and did not remain for the jury trial. (40:2.) The court read the document into the record:

"To whomever the person may be who it may concern. I have been advised by the voice in my head of my payee, Eleanor Roosevelt, that you order me be sent to the Winnebago or Mendota Mental Health Institute for a 30 day inpatient competency evaluation. This request is being made and submitted to the Court by

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 19 of 36

the accused while being under the duress of being incompetent and unable to fully understand anything that's happening." With the... accused's signature, Donald L. White.

(40:3; App.58.)

The court informed Mr. White, "We have had extensive competency proceedings. I have found you to be competent... I accept that you have mental health difficulties." (*Id.*) Mr. White objected to that finding on the basis that the court was not a doctor and had made the competency determination without relying on an expert opinion from a doctor. (40:3-4; App.58-59.)

After Mr. White left, the court found he had waived his right to personally appear at the trial and proceeded to the jury selection and trial in his absence. (40:8-9.) The jury found Mr. White guilty. (23; 40:45.)

Postconviction Proceedings

Mr. White filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief. (30.) On appeal, counsel filed a no merit report. The court of appeals ordered further review of the circuit court's decision that White was competent to proceed, and whether the court erred by making that decision without first obtaining an expert opinion of sufficient certainty to be admissible. (App.29-33.) Mr. White requested to proceed with an appeal under Wis. Stat. § 809.30, the court of appeals rejected the no merit report, and Mr. White proceeded with this appeal.

The court of appeals affirmed the conviction, holding that Wis. Stat. § 971.14 does not preclude a circuit court

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 20 of 36

from determining that a defendant is competent without an expert's ultimate conclusion, offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty, that the subject is competent. (App.5, \P 6.) The court also concluded that the circuit court did not err when it declined to follow the expert's recommendation that Mr. White required inpatient evaluation. (*Id.*)

ARGUMENT

Ensuring a defendant is competent to stand trial is "a cornerstone of our criminal justice system," *State v. Byrge*, 2000 WI 101, ¶ 26, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477, and "fundamental to an adversary system of justice." *Drope v. Missouri*, 420 U.S. 162, 172, 95 S.Ct. 896 (1975) "[T]he conviction of an accused person while he is legally incompetent violates due process." *Pate v. Robinson*, 383 U.S. 375, 378, 86 S.Ct. 836 (1966). States are free to establish procedures for determining competency, but must afford a criminal defendant whose competency is in question "a reasonable opportunity to demonstrate that he is not competent to stand trial." *State v. Guck*, 176 Wis. 2d 845, 850-51, 500 N.W. 2d 910 (1993).

The standard for competency established by the United States Supreme Court was codified by Wisconsin in Wis. Stat. § 971.13(1): "No person who lacks substantial mental capacity to understand the proceeding or assist in his or own defense may be tried, convicted, or sentenced for the commission of an offense so long as the incapacity endures." *State v. Garfoot*, 207 Wis. 2d 214, 221, 558 N.W.2d 626 (1997), *citing Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402, 403, 80 S.Ct. 788 (1960) *and Drope*, 420 U.S. at 171.

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 21 of 36

Section 971.14 mandates procedures for determining competency, "whenever there is reason to doubt a defendant's competency to proceed." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(a). The court "shall" appoint one or more examiners having appropriate specialized knowledge to examine and report upon the condition of the defendant. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(a). The examiner "shall" personally observe and examine the defendant and have access to his or her past or present treatment records. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(e).

After examining the defendant, the examiner "shall submit to the court a written report which shall include all of the following": a description of the nature of the examination and the individual interviewed, the clinical findings of the examiner, the examiner's opinion regarding the defendant's present mental capacity to understand the proceedings and to assist in his defense, and the facts and reasoning upon which the findings and opinions are based. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(a)-(c). If the examiner opines that a defendant is not competent, the statute also requires that the report include the examiner's opinion on whether competency may be restored, and, "[i]f sufficient information is available to the examiner to reach an opinion, the examiner's opinion on whether the defendant needs medication or treatment and whether the defendant is not competent to refuse medication or treatment." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(d), (dm).

Unless the parties waive the opportunity to present additional evidence, the court "shall" hold an evidentiary hearing on the defendant's competency. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). If the defendant stands mute or claims to be

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 22 of 36

incompetent, "the defendant shall be found incompetent unless the state proves by the greater weight of the credible evidence that the defendant is competent." *Id.*

Wisconsin's competency statutes demonstrate the importance of the competency determination to a fair trial. Competency is so important that even if not raised by defendant or defense counsel, the court must act if competency is in doubt. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(a). While a defendant may waive a contested hearing on competency, see Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b), there is no similar ability to waive a competency examination. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2). Rather, the law goes so far as to allow for inpatient examination for up to 15 days, even if involuntary, and even if the defendant is released on bail if the defendant fails to cooperate in the examination or the examiner deems an inpatient evaluation necessary. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(a)-(c). This section anticipates the possibility that an incompetent defendant's behavior may make a competency evaluation difficult and provides for inpatient examination where necessary. Id.

Here, although Mr. White did not receive the full benefit of the protections of Section 971.14 when the circuit court found him competent without an admissible expert opinion on Mr. White's competency to stand trial. This Court should grant review to interpret the requirements of Section 971.14 and to determine whether that section adequately satisfies due process standards.

Case 2020AP000275 Petition for Review Filed 12-05-2022 Page 23 of 36

I. This Court should grant review to interpret the level of protections afforded to a potentially incompetent individual by Section 971.14's requirement for an expert competency evaluation

Section 971.14 sets forth the procedures for determining competency for the purpose of protecting an individual's right to not be tried while incompetent. Thus, this statutory scheme is not merely procedural, but a set of protections that must be afforded to a defendant whose competency is in question. *State ex rel. Matalik v. Schubert*, 57 Wis. 2d 315, 322, 324, 204 N.W.2d 13 (1973) (Section 971.14 is an "important failsafe device for the benefit of accused persons who may not be able to fully cooperate and assist in their defense" whose purpose is to "maximize rather than minimize the rights afforded criminally accused persons").

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