FILED 12-20-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2020AP275-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONALD L. WHITE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) jansonkl@doj.state.wi.us

Filed 12-20-2022

Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin opposes Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner Donald L. White's petition for review on the following grounds:

1. White must overcome two layers of forfeiture for this Court to even reach the issues presented in his petition. White faults the circuit court for finding him competent to stand trial without an expert opinion offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. (Pet. 9-11.) But he's the reason why the expert couldn't offer that type of opinion: the examination was "very unproductive" because he gave "outlandish" responses to questions and behaved in a "theatrical" behavior. State v. White, No. 2020AP275-CR, 2022 WL 16643242, ¶ 11 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 3, 2022) (not recommended for publication). White's "highly uncooperative" attitude forced the examiner to end the interview without completing the standardized tests designed to assess his competency. *Id.*; (R. 12:5.)

Notably, this wasn't the first time that White has refused to cooperate with a competency examination—he's done it three times before. (R. 12:2-3.) Nor was this the first instance where White appeared to be feigning mental illness for competency purposes: he's previously been diagnosed with malingering. (R. 12:2.) White has a history of being "gamey," faking self-harm on numerous occasions. (R. 12:3.) He also has a history of being uncooperative with psychiatry staff, either ignoring them or showing them hostility. (R. 12:3.)

And White's highly uncooperative attitude in this case hardly came as a surprise considering his conduct leading up to the competency examination. He'd been playing a "stubborn" game of stonewalling the court at hearings and was physically resisting coming to court, too. (R. 36:3-4; 37:2-13.) Given White's conduct, the court anticipated that he wouldn't cooperate with the competency examiner and told him what would happen if he didn't: his evaluation would be based on collateral sources of information. (R. 37:8, 13-14.)

Filed 12-20-2022

The court told White that it would be "good" if he talked to the competency examiner. (R. 37:13.) If he didn't but later changed his mind, the court assured White, "I'll send that person back to talk to you." (R. 37:8.)

Yet, when it became clear that the circuit court was going to proceed with the competency determination despite the examiner's inability to offer an opinion to a reasonable degree of professional certainty, White didn't object. (R. 38:4.) Nor did he take the court up on its previous offer to send the examiner back to speak with him. (R. 37:8; 38:4; 39:4-12.) Nor did he exercise his statutory right to an examination from an expert of his choice. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(g). Quite the opposite, at the competency hearing, White doubled down on his defiance: "I refused to be interviewed because they don't know what they are talking about." (R. 39:17.)

Wisconsin courts have long held that "a specific, contemporaneous objection is required to preserve error." State v. Delgado, 2002 WI App 38, ¶ 12, 250 Wis. 2d 689, 641 N.W.2d 490; accord In re Guardianship of Willa L., 2011 WI App 160, ¶ 26, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155 (stating that parties must raise "specific arguments in a timely fashion"). Further, defendants may forfeit rights—even constitutional ones—through conduct incompatible with the assertion of the right. See State v. Anthony, 2015 WI 20, ¶ 64, 361 Wis. 2d 116, 860 N.W.2d 10. Both aspects of forfeiture are on display in this case, and the State will argue as much if this Court grants White's petition. There aren't good reasons to overlook

¹ Despite recognizing that White didn't ask for another competency evaluation until the morning of trial, well after the competency proceedings ended, the court of appeals assumed without deciding that White adequately preserved his arguments by lodging a specific, contemporaneous objection. State v. White, No. 2020AP275-CR, 2022 WL 16643242, ¶ 23 n.7 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 3, 2022) (not recommended for publication). It didn't address the State's forfeiture-by-conduct argument. See id.

Filed 12-20-2022

White's doubly forfeited arguments, either: he points to no other instances of courts determining trial competency without an examiner's opinion offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. (Pet. 9-11, 23-34.) The simple fact is that he's manufactured the issues raised in his petition through his manipulative and defiant conduct. White had every opportunity to obtain an examiner's opinion offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty: he could have cooperated during his first examination, he could have asked to speak to the examiner again, or he could have asked for a new examination with an examiner of his choice. But he did none of those things, apparently because he didn't want the prosecution to proceed. Overlooking White's doubly forfeited arguments rewards his misconduct.

2. The issues raised in White's petition are based on the flawed premise that an expert opinion is inadmissible unless it's offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. (Pet. 7-8.)

It's true that an expert opinion is often "cast in terms of a 'reasonable degree of certainty' in the pertinent field or discipline." 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 702.603, at 701 (4th ed. 2017). "There are, however, no magic words or other talismans that govern admissibility. The proponent need only show that the expert testimony otherwise comports with § 907.02." Id. (footnote omitted). "Short of speculation, the expert's degree of certainty runs to the testimony's weight." Id. at 702 (emphasis added). "Case law sometimes distinguishes between opinions predicated upon 'probabilities' versus 'possibilities.' Admissibility does not turn on simple word choice." Id. (emphasis added). Professor Blinka continues, "[S]emantic quibbles should not cloak the real focus of the analysis: relevancy and helpfulness depends upon the reliability of the underlying theories and the techniques

Filed 12-20-2022

predicated upon those theories, especially in [the] area of scientific evidence." *Id*.

So, White is wrong to argue that experts are required to "testify to a reasonable degree of professional certainty or probability, even where such a standard is not laid out within the relevant statute." (Pet. 23 n.2.) Wisconsin Stat. § 907.02 governs the admissibility of expert opinions, and there's no requirement there that the expert must use those magic words. See In re Commitment of Jones, 2018 WI 44, ¶ 29, 381 Wis. 2d 284, 911 N.W.2d 97 (discussing the "five determinations" a court must make before admitting expert testimony). Here again, the court of appeals assumed without deciding that the circuit court properly deemed the examiner's opinion inadmissible. White, 2022 WL 16643242, ¶ 33. But the State will argue as much if this Court grants White's petition, providing another obstacle for White to overcome for this Court to even reach the issues presented.

3. The court of appeals reached the correct result in an opinion that doesn't have precedential value. It properly rejected White's constitutional challenge to the relevant statute as undeveloped. White, 2022 WL 16643242, ¶ 34. As for White's statutory-interpretation argument, the court of appeals rightfully declined his invitation to read language into Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(c). As White concedes, the plain language of the statute doesn't require an expert opinion offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. White, 2022 WL 16643242, ¶ 37. Stated otherwise, the statute does not prevent the court from determining competency without such an opinion. And that makes sense considering that a competency determination is legal, not medical, and that the aims of a competency hearing are "modest." State v. Byrge, 2000 WI 101, ¶ 48, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477. As the court of appeals noted, this case is a great example of one where a court has "ample evidence to support a competency determination, regardless of the ultimate

conclusion reached by the examiner." White, 2022 WL 16643242, ¶ 42. At bottom, White's position offends numerous principles of statutory construction and was correctly rejected.

For the above reasons, this Court should deny White's petition.

Dated this 20th day of December 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

JOSHUA L. KAUL

Attorney General of Wisconsin

John Blimling SBN # 1088372

For: KARA L. JANSON

Assistant Attorney General

State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) jansonkl@doj.state.wi.us

FORM AND LENGTH CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that this response conforms to the rules contained in Wis. Stat. §§ (Rule) 809.19(8)(b) and 809.62(4) (2019–20) for a response produced with a proportional serif font. The length of this response is 1,296 words.

Dated this 20th day of December 2022.

FOR KARA L. JANSON

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH WIS. STAT. §§ (RULE) 809.19(12) and 809.62(4)(b) (2019–20)

I hereby certify that:

I have submitted an electronic copy of this response, excluding the appendix, if any, which complies with the requirements of Wis. Stat. §§ (Rule) 809.19(12) and 809.62(4)(b) (2019–20).

I further certify that:

This electronic response is identical in content and format to the printed form of the response filed as of this date.

A copy of this certificate has been served with the paper copies of this response filed with the court and served on all opposing parties.

Dated this 20th day of December 2022.

For; KARA L. JANSON